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1. Audit engagement

By resolution of the ordinary shareholders’ meeting on June 19, 2020 of

reifencom GmbH, Hanover,
(hereinafter also referred to as “reifencom" or “Company*)

we, Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, have been
elected as auditor for the financial year 2020/2021. The executive directors ap-
pointed us to audit the annual financial statements together with the bookkeeping
system and the management report for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to
March 31, 2021.

Pursuant to section 316 paragraph 1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Com-
mercial Code] our audit is a statutory audit as required by sections 316 et seq.
HGB.

Pursuant to section 321 paragraph 4a HGB we confirm that we observed the ap-
plicable regulations on auditor’s independence in our audit.

We have prepared the following report on the results of our audit. The long-form
audit report has been prepared in accordance with section 321 HGB and generally
accepted standards for preparing long-form audit reports in accordance with IDW
AuS [IDW Auditing Standard] 450 (revised) (“IDW PS 450 n.F.")

Our report is addressed to reifencom GmbH.

Execution of our engagement and our responsibility, also in relation to third par-
ties, are governed by the General Engagement Terms for Wirtschaftsprifer and
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaften [German Public Auditors and Audit Firms] as of
January 1, 2017 (see Appendix 6). The extent of our liability is determined by sec-
tion 323 paragraph 2 HGB. In relation to third parties number 1 section 2 and num-
ber 9 of these General Engagement Terms are decisive.
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2. Basic findings

2.1. Statement on the assessment of the Company's
economic situation by the executive directors

The following statements contained in the management report prepared by the
Company'’s executive directors are from our point of view of particular importance
for the assessment of the Company’s economic position and future development
with its material opportunities and risks:

Economic position and business performance:

1. Macroeconomic General Conditions: In reifencom’s main sales segment of
passenger car tyres, sales figures fell from 44.8 million to 39.4 million units.
The winners in this group were again all-season tyres, with an increase of 7%.
The market share is therefore around 25%. The market for tyres in the com-
mercial vehicle sector for light trucks was also unable to escape the negative
trend. Sales of light truck tires fell by -8.8% to 3.4 million in 2020 (2020: 3.7 mil-
lion). For 2021, BRV forecasts an overall recovery of 6.4% in the passenger
tyre replacement business.

2. General Business Development: reifencom's business activities are influ-
enced by seasonal factors in the area of tyre purchases/changes. Overall,
gross profit increased by KEUR 867 to KEUR 49,053. Gross profit is defined as
sales minus cost of materials. Due to lower selling expenses, EBIT increased
by KEUR 1,225 to KEUR 1,469.

3. Profit Situation: Gross profit amounted to KEUR 49,053. The increase in
gross profit of around 1.8% was mainly due to the 9.3% increase in sales. Op-
erating expenses (personnel expenses, depreciation of fixed assets, other op-
erating expenses less other operating income and other taxes) include in
particular personnel expenses and other operating expenses and decreased in
the financial year, in particular due to a decrease in other operating expenses
(EUR -0.6 million). This was mainly the result of declining marketing expenses.
The outlined business trend leads to an operating result of KEUR 1,347 (previ-
ous year: KEUR 148). The negative financial result is mainly due to the interest
charges on long-term mortgage loans and the utilization of seasonal credit
lines. Tax expenses of KEUR 533 include tax charges from the current financial
year (previous year: KEUR 370). Overall, compared with the financial year
2019/20 net income for the year increased by KEUR 1,087 to KEUR 781.

4. Asset Situation: Long-term assets mainly consist of property, plant and equip-
ment (KEUR 6,161) and intangible assets (KEUR 5,364). Changes resulted
mainly from the annual depreciation of fixed assets and additions to fixed as-
sets. Further, pension obligations amounting to KEUR 1,243 exist. According to
§ 246 paragraph 2 HGB, they are represented under long-term assets together
with reinsurance claims (KEUR 1,703). With regard to medium- and short-term
assets, inventories stand out, accounting for around 58% of total assets. As of
March 31, 2021, inventories of tyres and rims were increased year-on-year for
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seasonal reasons. Trade receivables increased compared to the previous
year's figures. As of March 31, 2021, these amounted to KEUR 4,040, com-
pared with KEUR 3,160 in the previous year. In comparison, liquid funds de-
creased by KEUR 511 to KEUR 1,223. They thus account for around 2 % of
total assets. Long-term liabilities include a bank loan for the financing of an ac-
quired property.

5. Financial Situation: The increase in cash flow from current business opera-
tions is mainly due to the increase in trade accounts payable and liabilities to
affiliated companies. Cash flow from investing activities was mainly influenced
by investments in fixed assets. The negative cash flow from financing activities
includes the interest and repayment charges on the loans granted. The Com-
pany was able to meet its financial obligations at all times during the fiscal year.

These key statements on the economic position and on the business performance
have been sufficiently described in the management report. For further details we
therefore refer to the management report, which is attached to this report as 0.

Future development with its material opportunities and risks

1. Opportunities: We offer our customers the opportunity to complete all neces-
sary steps for tire procurement online in advance and to offer the necessary
service on site through coordinated processes. This omnichannel approach
helps us to respond to changes in a targeted manner and offers our customers
a wide range of options in terms of ordering, payment and delivery.

2, Opportunities: The central warehouse in Hildesheim helps to mitigate the risk of
strong seasonal dependency in the industry and to store imported goods. This
means that seasonal customer requirements can be met without having to sig-
nificantly increase inventories at reifencom GmbH's branches. At the same
time, the purchasing volume makes it possible to use greater market power
with suppliers and the tire industry.

3. Opportunities: The average age of passenger cars has risen from 6.8 years to
9.6 years since 1995. It can be assumed that the average age will continue to
rise. This is likely to have a positive impact on reifen-com's sales performance,
as demand for tires will thus also increase.

4. Risks: The contact and exit bans imposed in Germany in connection with the
Corona pandemic are having a particular impact on our branch business. Pos-
sible declines in sales would be the consequence if the contact bans were to
remain in place or be further tightened. In response to this, the e-commerce
area will be focused more closely.

5. Risks: As a result of cut-throat competition within the tire sector, it remains to
be seen to what extent higher prices can be implemented on the market among
private end consumers. Higher prices are likely to further restrict consumer
spending, while lower margins will have a negative impact on the gross margin.
In its purchasing activities, reifencom GmbH continues to take account of the
overall supply of goods and is responding to this by weighing up risks in its
warehousing and pricing policy.
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6. Risks: reifencom GmbH operates a highly seasonal business that is heavily de-
pendent on weather conditions, particularly in the 3rd quarter of the fiscal year.
Despite the continuing rise in demand for all-season tires, consumer behavior
remains unchanged during the "October to Easter" period.

7. Forecast: We plan to increase sales by more than 10% in 2021/22. However,
the past has shown that a forecast is extremely difficult and associated with
considerable uncertainty due to the dependency on weather conditions, espe-
cially in the winter tire business, and the unclear economic development.

These key statements on opportunities and risks of the future development of the
Company have been sufficiently described in the management report. For further
details we therefore refer to the management report, which is attached to this re-
port as 0.

Summarized assessment

On the basis of the assessment of the economic position of the Company which
we have been able to derive from the knowledge obtained in our audit of the an-
nual financial statements and the management report, we have come to the as-
sessment that the executive directors’ presentation and assessment of the
position of the Company, in particular regarding the going concern and the future
development of the Company with its material opportunities and risks reflected on
the annual financial statements and in the management report is appropriate.

2.2, Irregularities

2.21. Other irregularities

Contrary to §§ 325 et seq. HGB, the legal representatives did not submit the an-
nual financial statements, management report and other required documents for
the previous year to the electronic Federal Gazette for disclosure in due time. We
refer in this respect to § 335 HGB.
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3. Reproduction of the auditor’s
report

On the basis of the final result of our audit, we have issued the independent audi-
tor's report as reproduced below:

D

Reproduction

Bestatigungsvermerk ofthe audtor's report
des unabhangigen Abschlusspriifers

An die reifencom GmbH, Hannover

Prifungsurteile

Wir haben den Jahresabschluss der reifencom GmbH, Hannover, — bestehend
aus der Bilanz zum 31. Marz 2021 und der Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung fiir das
Geschaftsjahr vom 1. April 2020 bis zum 31. Marz 2021 sowie dem Anhang, ein-
schlieRlich der Darstellung der Bilanzierungs- und Bewertungsmethoden — gepruft.
Dariber hinaus haben wir den Lagebericht der reifencom GmbH, Hannover, fur
das Geschaftsjahr vom 1. April 2020 bis zum 31. Méarz 2021 gepriift.

Nach unserer Beurteilung aufgrund der bei der Prifung gewonnenen Erkenntnisse

o entspricht der beigefiigte Jahresabschluss in allen wesentlichen Belangen den
deutschen, fur Kapitalgesellschaften geltenden handelsrechtlichen Vorschriften
und vermittelt unter Beachtung der deutschen Grundsatze ordnungsmaBiger
Buchfiihrung ein den tatsachlichen Verhaltnissen entsprechendes Bild der Ver-
mdgens- und Finanzlage der Gesellschaft zum 31. Marz 2021 sowie ihrer Er-
tragslage fiir das Geschaftsjahr vom 1. April 2020 bis zum 31. Marz 2021 und

o vermittelt der beigefiigte Lagebericht insgesamt ein zutreffendes Bild von der
Lage der Gesellschaft. In allen wesentlichen Belangen steht dieser Lagebericht
in Einklang mit dem Jahresabschluss, entspricht den deutschen gesetzlichen
Vorschriften und stellt die Chancen und Risiken der zukiinftigen Entwicklung zu-
treffend dar.

Gemal § 322 Abs. 3 Satz 1 HGB erkléren wir, dass unsere Priifung zu keinen
Einwendungen gegen die Ordnungsmagigkeit des Jahresabschlusses und des La-
geberichts gefihrt hat.
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Grundlage fiir die Priifungsurteile

Wir haben unsere Priifung des Jahresabschlusses und des Lageberichts in Uber-
einstimmung mit § 317 HGB unter Beachtung der vom Institut der Wirtschaftspri-
fer (IDW) festgesteliten deutschen Grundsatze ordnungsmagiger
Abschlussprifung durchgefiihrt. Unsere Verantwortung nach diesen Vorschriften
und Grundsétzen ist im Abschnitt ,Verantwortung des Abschlussprifers fir die
Prifung des Jahresabschlusses und des Lageberichts" unseres Bestatigungsver-
merks weitergehend beschrieben. Wir sind von dem Unternehmen unabhangig in
Ubereinstimmung mit den deutschen handelsrechtlichen und berufsrechtlichen
Vorschriften und haben unsere sonstigen deutschen Berufspflichten in Uberein-
stimmung mit diesen Anforderungen erfiillt. Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von
uns erlangten Priifungsnachweise ausreichend und geeignet sind, um als Grund-
lage fur unsere Priifungsurteile zum Jahresabschluss und zum Lagebericht zu die-
nen.

Verantwortung der gesetzlichen Vertreter fiir den Jahres-
abschluss und den Lagebericht

Die gesetzlichen Vertreter sind verantwortlich firr die Aufstellung des Jahresab-
schlusses, der den deutschen, fiir Kapitalgesellschaften geltenden handelsrechtli-
chen Vorschriften in allen wesentlichen Belangen entspricht, und daftr, dass der
Jahresabschluss unter Beachtung der deutschen Grundséatze ordnungsmaRiger
Buchfiihrung ein den tatsachlichen Verhaltnissen entsprechendes Bild der Vermé-
gens-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gesellschaft vermittelt. Ferner sind die gesetz-
lichen Vertreter verantwortlich fiir die internen Kontrollen, die sie in
Ubereinstimmung mit den deutschen Grunds&tzen ordnungsmaBiger Buchfilhrung
als notwendig bestimmt haben, um die Aufstellung eines Jahresabschlusses zu
ermdglichen, der frei von wesentlichen — beabsichtigten oder unbeabsichtigten —
falschen Darstellungen ist.

Bei der Aufstellung des Jahresabschlusses sind die gesetzlichen Vertreter dafir
verantwortlich, die Fahigkeit der Gesellschaft zur Fortfiihrung der Unterneh-
menstatigkeit zu beurteilen. Des Weiteren haben sie die Verantwortung, Sachver-
halte in Zusammenhang mit der Fortfiihrung der Unternehmenstatigkeit, sofern
einschlagig, anzugeben. Daruber hinaus sind sie dafiir verantwortlich, auf der
Grundlage des Rechnungslegungsgrundsatzes der Fortfiihrung der Unterneh-
menstatigkeit zu bilanzieren, sofern dem nicht tatsachliche oder rechtliche Gege-
benheiten entgegenstehen.

Aullerdem sind die gesetzlichen Vertreter verantwortlich furr die Aufstellung des
Lageberichts, der insgesamt ein zutreffendes Bild von der Lage der Gesellschaft
vermittelt sowie in allen wesentlichen Belangen mit dem Jahresabschluss in Ein-
klang steht, den deutschen gesetzlichen Vorschriften entspricht und die Chancen
und Risiken der zukiinftigen Entwicklung zutreffend darstellt. Ferner sind die ge-
setzlichen Vertreter verantwortlich fiir die Vorkehrungen und MaBnahmen (Sys-
teme), die sie als notwendig erachtet haben, um die Aufstellung eines
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Lageberichts in Ubereinstimmung mit den anzuwendenden deutschen gesetzli-
chen Vorschriften zu erméglichen, und um ausreichende geeignete Nachweise fiir
die Aussagen im Lagebericht erbringen zu kénnen.

Verantwortung des Abschlusspriifers fiir die Priifung des
Jahresabschlusses und des Lageberichts

Unsere Zielsetzung ist, hinreichende Sicherheit dartiber zu erlangen, ob der Jah-
resabschluss als Ganzes frei von wesentlichen — beabsichtigten oder unbeabsich-
tigten — falschen Darstellungen ist, und ob der Lagebericht insgesamt ein
zutreffendes Bild von der Lage der Gesellschaft vermittelt sowie in allen wesentli-
chen Belangen mit dem Jahresabschluss sowie mit den bei der Priifung gewonne-
nen Erkenntnissen in Einklang steht, den deutschen gesetzlichen Vorschriften
entspricht und die Chancen und Risiken der zukinftigen Entwicklung zutreffend
darstellt, sowie einen Bestatigungsvermerk zu erteilen, der unsere Prifungsurteile
zum Jahresabschluss und zum Lagebericht beinhaltet.

Hinreichende Sicherheit ist ein hohes MaR an Sicherheit, aber keine Garantie da-
fur, dass eine in Ubereinstimmung mit § 317 HGB unter Beachtung der vom Insti-
tut der Wirtschaftspriifer (IDW) festgesteliten deutschen Grundsatze
ordnungsméfiger Abschlusspriifung durchgefiihrte Priifung eine wesentliche fal-
sche Darstellung stets aufdeckt. Falsche Darstellungen kénnen aus VerstéRen
oder Unrichtigkeiten resultieren und werden als wesentlich angesehen, wenn ver-
ninftigerweise erwartet werden kénnte, dass sie einzeln oder insgesamt die auf
der Grundlage dieses Jahresabschlusses und Lageberichts getroffenen wirtschaft-
lichen Entscheidungen von Adressaten beeinflussen.

reifencom GmbH — 2020/11427 7
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Wahrend der Prifung tben wir pflichtgemales Ermessen aus und bewahren eine
kritische Grundhaltung. Darilber hinaus
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identifizieren und beurteilen wir die Risiken wesentlicher — beabsichtigter oder
unbeabsichtigter — falscher Darstellungen im Jahresabschluss und im Lagebe-
richt, planen und fihren Priffungshandlungen als Reaktion auf diese Risiken
durch sowie erlangen Priifungsnachweise, die ausreichend und geeignet sind,
um als Grundlage fiir unsere Prifungsurteile zu dienen. Das Risiko, dass we-
sentliche falsche Darstellungen nicht aufgedeckt werden, ist bei VerstéRen ho-
her als bei Unrichtigkeiten, da VerstoRe betriigerisches Zusammenwirken,
Falschungen, beabsichtigte Unvollstandigkeiten, irrefithrende Darstellungen
bzw. das Aulerkraftsetzen interner Kontrollen beinhalten kénnen.

gewinnen wir ein Verstandnis von dem fiir die Prifung des Jahresabschlusses
relevanten internen Kontrollsystem und den fir die Priifung des Lageberichts
relevanten Vorkehrungen und MaRnahmen, um Priifungshandlungen zu planen,
die unter den gegebenen Umsténden angemessen sind, jedoch nicht mit dem
Ziel, ein Prifungsurteil zur Wirksamkeit dieser Systeme der Gesellschaft abzu-
geben.

beurteilen wir die Angemessenheit der von den gesetzlichen Vertretern ange-
wandten Rechnungslegungsmethoden sowie die Vertretbarkeit der von den ge-
setzlichen Vertretern dargestellten geschéatzten Werte und damit
zusammenhangenden Angaben,

ziehen wir Schlussfolgerungen tiber die Angemessenheit des von den gesetzli-
chen Vertretern angewandten Rechnungslegungsgrundsatzes der Fortfiihrung
der Unternehmenstétigkeit sowie, auf der Grundlage der erlangten Prifungs-
nachweise, ob eine wesentliche Unsicherheit im Zusammenhang mit Ereignis-
sen oder Gegebenheiten besteht, die bedeutsame Zweifel an der Fahigkeit der
Gesellschaft zur Fortfuhrung der Unternehmenstatigkeit aufwerfen kénnen.
Falls wir zu dem Schluss kommen, dass eine wesentliche Unsicherheit besteht,
sind wir verpflichtet, im Bestétigungsvermerk auf die dazugehérigen Angaben
im Jahresabschluss und im Lagebericht aufmerksam zu machen oder, falls
diese Angaben unangemessen sind, unser jeweiliges Prifungsurteil zu modifi-
zieren. Wir ziehen unsere Schlussfolgerungen auf der Grundlage der bis zum
Datum unseres Bestatigungsvermerks erlangten Priifungsnachweise. Zukiinf-
tige Ereignisse oder Gegebenheiten kénnen jedoch dazu filhren, dass die Ge-
sellschaft ihre Unternehmenstatigkeit nicht mehr fortfiihren kann.

beurteilen wir die Gesamtdarstellung, den Aufbau und den Inhalt des Jahresab-
schlusses einschlieRlich der Angaben sowie ob der Jahresabschluss die zu-
grunde liegenden Geschéftsvorfélle und Ereignisse so darstellt, dass der
Jahresabschluss unter Beachtung der deutschen Grundsatze ordnungsmagiger
Buchfiihrung ein den tatsachlichen Verhaltnissen entsprechendes Bild der Ver-
mégens-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gesellschaft vermittelit.

beurteilen wir den Einklang des Lageberichts mit dem Jahresabschluss, seine
Gesetzesentsprechung und das von ihm vermittelte Bild von der Lage der Ge-
sellschaft.
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e fahren wir Priffungshandlungen zu den von den gesetzlichen Vertretern darge-
stellten zukunftsorientierten Angaben im Lagebericht durch. Auf Basis ausrei-
chender geeigneter Priifungsnachweise vollziehen wir dabei insbesondere die
den zukunftsorientierten Angaben von den gesetzlichen Vertretern zugrunde
gelegten bedeutsamen Annahmen nach und beurteilen die sachgerechte Ablei-
tung der zukunftsorientierten Angaben aus diesen Annahmen. Ein eigenstandi-
ges Prifungsurteil zu den zukunftsorientierten Angaben sowie zu den zugrunde
liegenden Annahmen geben wir nicht ab. Es besteht ein erhebliches unvermeid-
bares Risiko, dass kiinftige Ereignisse wesentlich von den zukunftsorientierten
Angaben abweichen.

Wir erértern mit den fur die Uberwachung Verantwortlichen unter anderem den ge-
planten Umfang und die Zeitplanung der Prifung sowie bedeutsame Priifungsfest-
stellungen, einschliefllich etwaiger Mangel im internen Kontrollsystem, die wir
wahrend unserer Prifung feststellen.

Frankfurt am Main, den 30. April 2021

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

Robert Binder Maximilian Meyer zu Schwabedissen
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer

The following repetition of the auditor’s report in English language is for
translation purposes only:

“Independent Auditor’s Report

To the reifencom GmbH, Hanover

Audit Opinions

We have audited the annual financial statements of reifencom GmbH, Hanover,
which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, and the statement of
profit and loss for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021, and
notes to the financial statements, including the presentation of the recognition and
measurement policies. In addition, we have audited the management report of
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reifencom GmbH, Hanover, for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to

March 31, 2021. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we have not
audited the content of the statement on corporate governance pursuant to sec-
tion 289f paragraph 4 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] (dis-
closures on the quota for women on executive boards).

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

¢ the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects,
with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to business corpo-
rations and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial posi-
tion of the Company as at March 31, 2021 and of its financial performance for
the financial year from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 in compliance with Ger-
man Legally Required Accounting Principles, and

e the accompanying management report as a whole provides an appropriate view
of the Company’s position. In all material respects, this management report is
consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with German legal re-
quirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future de-
velopment. Our audit opinion on the management report does not cover the
content of the statement on corporate governance referred to above.

Pursuant to section 322 paragraph 3 sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit
has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual finan-
cial statements and of the management report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the manage-
ment report in accordance with section 317 HGB and in compliance with German
Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the
Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our
responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in
the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and
of the Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of
the Company in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and
professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibili-
ties in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions
on the annual financial statements and on the management report.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the Supervisory
Board for the Annual Financial Statements and the Management Re-
port

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial
statements that comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German
commercial law applicable to business corporations and that the annual financial
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
financial performance of the Company in compliance with German Legally Re-
quired Accounting Principles. In addition, the executive directors are responsible
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for such internal control as they, in accordance with German Legally Required Ac-
counting Principles, have determined necessary to enable the preparation of an-
nual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the executive directors are responsi-
ble for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also
have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going
concern basis of accounting, provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict
therewith.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the
management report that as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Com-
pany’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with the annual financial
statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents
the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive direc-
tors are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have
considered necessary to enable the preparation of a management report that is in
accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to pro-
vide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial re-
porting process for the preparation of the annual financial statements and of the
management report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial State-
ments and of the Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual fi-
nancial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and whether the management report as a whole provides an ap-
propriate view of the Company's position and, in all material respects, is consistent
with the annual financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit,
complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the op-
portunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor's report
that includes our audit opinions on the annual financial statements and on the
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with section 317 HGB and in compliance with Ger-
man Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprufer (IDW) will always detect a material misstate-
ment. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial state-
ments and this management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism through-
out the audit. We also:

reifencom GmbH - 2020/11427
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial
statements and of the management report, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual
financial statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to
the audit of the management report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems of the Company.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive di-
rectors and the reasonableness of estimates made by the executive directors
and related disclosures.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw atten-
tion in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual financial state-
ments and in the management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to be able to continue as a go-
ing concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial state-
ments present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the an-
nual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and financial performance of the Company in compliance with
German Legally Required Accounting Principles.

o Evaluate the consistency of the management report with the annual financial
statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the Company's po-
sition it provides.

e Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the exec-
utive directors in the management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate
audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by
the executive directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate
the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions.
We do not express a separate audit opinion on the prospective information and
on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that
future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

12 reifencom GmbH - 2020/11427
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.”

Frankfurt am Main, April 30, 2021

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Robert Binder Maximilian Meyer zu Schwabedissen
Wirtschaftsprufer Wirtschaftsprifer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]

On publication or further submission of the annual financial statements and/or the
management report in a form other than that audited by us (including translations
into other languages), a further statement will be required from us if our auditor’s
report is cited or reference is made to our audit; we refer hereby in particular to
section 328 HGB.

reifencom GmbH — 2020/11427 13
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4. Subject, nature and extent of
the audit

4.1. Subject of the audit

Subject of our audit were the annual financial statements of reifencom GmbH —
which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the statement of profit
and loss for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021, and the notes
to the annual financial statements, including the presentation of the recognition
and measurement policies — together with the bookkeeping system and the man-
agement report of the Company for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to

March 31, 2021.

The annual financial statements and the management report have been prepared
on the basis of the German commercial law applicable to business corporations in-
cluding the relevant regulations of the GmbHG [Gesetz betreffend die Gesellschaf-
ten mit beschrankter Haftung: German Limited Liability Company Act]

Regarding the responsibilities of the executive directors_of the Company related to
the preparation of the annual financial statements and the management report we
refer to the explanations given in our auditor's report which is reproduced in sec-
tion 3 of this report. The responsibility of the executive directors also comprises re-
sponsibility for the Company’s bookkeeping.

Our objective is to assess the annual financial statements including the bookkeep-
ing and the management report as well as the disclosures made within the course
of an audit performed in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards
for Financial Statement Audits. Our respective responsibilities are explained in the
section “Audit opinions” and in the section “Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the annual financial statements and of the management report* of our auditor’s re-
port.

The audit of compliance with other regulations is only relevant to the audit of finan-
cial statements insofar as these regulations normally have an impact on the an-
nual financial statements or the management report.

According to section 317 paragraph 4a HGB, an examination as to whether the
ability of the Company as a going concern or whether the effectiveness and effi-
ciency of the Company’'s management can be guaranteed is not required to be in-
¢luded in the audit.

4.2, Nature and extent of the audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with section 317 HGB and in compliance
with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits prom-
ulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer in Deutschland e.V. [Institute of Public
Auditors in Germany] (IDW).

14 reifencom GmbH — 2020/11427
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Regarding the objectives of our audit and the essential principles of conducting
our audit we refer to the explanations given in the section “Auditor’s responsibili-
ties for the audit of the annual financial statements and of the management report”
of our auditor’s report.

The audit was planned and performed by taking a risk-oriented approach. Based
on this approach, we derived the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be
performed from several criteria.

Within our risk-oriented approach we assessed the risk of material misstatements
in the accounting due to fraud and error (= misstatement risk). The assessment of
these risks was based on an analysis of the environment of the Company (in par-
ticular industry specific factors) and management representations on significant
corporate aims and strategies and on business risks (client specific factors). Fur-
thermore, our preliminary assessment of the Company's position and the general
assessment of the accounting-related internal control system were considered in
our risk assessment.

Based on the risk assessment, we determined the following critical assertions and
matters:

» Occurrence and accuracy of revenues
o Existence, accuracy and valuation and allocation of inventories
= Plausibility check of the forward-looking statements in the management report

Our audit plan determining nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures was
designed to address these critical assertions and matters. Within this, both tests of
controls of the internal control system — when relying on the effectiveness of the
internal control system in order to determine substantive audit procedures or when
required — and substantive audit procedures including tests of detail and analytical
procedures have been performed. Both tests of controls and tests of detail were
performed alternatively on the basis of testing every item, audit sampling or the
selection of specific items.

Starting point for our audit were the annual financial statements and the manage-
ment report for the prior financial year from April 1, 2019 to March 31, 2020, on
which we issued an ungualified audit opinion and which were approved by the
shareholders' meeting on June 19, 2020.

With regard to the opening balances we have examined whether they have been
correctly brought forward from the previous financial year's annual financial state-
ments.

On January 9, 2021 and January 16, 2021, the Company carried out annual inven-
tory counts in the branches, on which we have participated in some branches.

As part of the liabilities, we have obtained balance confirmations from suppliers in
random samples and, in the area of provisions, from all of the company's lawyers
and tax advisors confirming the company's claims and obligations. Confirmations
were also obtained as part of the audit of the company's credit balances and liabili-
ties to banks.

We only received settlement confirmations for the receivables recorded in the bal-
ance sheet at the balance sheet date for major customers and smaller work-

reifencom GmbH — 2020/11427
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shops. We have not received any balance sheet confirmations for the receivables
from individuals registered on the balance sheet date in the balance sheet date
because, according to the way in which the receivables were recorded, adminis-
tered and settled, they could be reliably demonstrated in other ways.

In the context of the annual financial statements, we assessed the forward-looking
statements in the management report for plausibility and consistency with the find-
ings obtained during the audit.

In assessing the measurement of the provisions for pensions we used the results
of the actuarial report issued by an independent expert as commissioned by the
Company.

We performed our audit work with interruptions from March 2021 to April 30, 2021.
The executive directors and named contact persons provided us with all explana-
tions and supporting documents requested. The executive directors confirmed in

writing the completeness of the annual financial statements and the management
report presented to us.
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5. Findings and explanations on
the financial reporting

5.1. Compliance of the financial reporting

5.1.1. Bookkeeping and other audited documents
The Company’s books and records are maintained in a proper manner.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit, the bookkeeping
and the other audited documents comply, in all material respects, with the statu-
tory provisions and with the German Legally Required Accounting Principles
throughout the reporting period; the information drawn from the other audited doc-
uments are, in all material respects, properly reflected in the books and records,
the annual financial statements and the management report.

5.1.2. Annual financial statements

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in our audit, the annual fi-

nancial statements of reifencom GmbH for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to
March 31, 2021 attached to this report as Appendix 1 to Appendix 3 comply, in all
material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to
business corporations including applicable regulations of the GmbHG.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in our audit

= the balance sheet and the statement of profit and loss were duly derived from
the books and records and from the further audited documents,

 in all material respects, the legal requirements regarding classifications, recog-
nition and measurement have been observed, and

= in all material respects, the disclosures made in the notes to the financial state-
ments are complete and accurate.

The company has not included a tax reconciliation in its notes in accordance with
DRS 18, paragraph 67. In our opinion, there is no legal obligation to present a re-
conciliation according to DRS 18, paragraph 67. Accordingly, we have not ob-
jected this.

5.1.3. Management report

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in our audit, the manage-
ment report of reifencom GmbH for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to

March 31, 2021 attached to this report as Appendix 4 complies, in all material re-
spects, with the legal requirements.

Regarding further details of our audit opinion on the management report we refer
to the explanations given in the section “Audit opinions” of our auditor's report.

reifencom GmbH — 2020/11427
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5.2. Overall financial statements presentation

5.2.1. Statement on the overall financial statements presentation

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in our audit, the annual fi-
nancial statements of reifencom GmbH, audited by us and attached to this report
as 0 to 0, give a true and fair view of its assets, liabilities, financial position as at
March 31, 2021 and of its financial performance for the financial year from

April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 in compliance with German Legally Required Ac-
counting Principles.

5.2.2. Valuation principles and transactions with a significant impact

5.2.2.1. Material valuation principles

The recognition and measurement methods and further material valuation princi-
ples are presented in 0. Compared with the prior year, no changes of recognition
and measurement methods were made.

5.2.2.2. Transactions with significant impact

Transactions not included in the balance sheet (off-balance-sheet transactions)
with significant impact on the overall presentation of the annual financial state-
ments are presented in the notes to the annual financial statements (0). In our as-
sessment, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in our audit, further transactions
with significant impact did not occur.
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6. Schlussbemerkungen

Verantwortliche Prifungspartner im Sinne der Berufssatzung WP/VBP sind Herr
Maximilian Meyer zu Schwabedissen ~ als fiir die Auftragsdurchfiihrung vorrangig
verantwortlich — und Herr Robert Binder als weiterer verantwortlicher Priifungs-
partner.

Diesen Bericht Gber die Priifung des Jahresabschlusses und des Lageberichts der
reifencom GmbH, Hannover, fur das Geschéftsjahr vom 1. April 2020 bis zum

31. Marz 2021 haben wir in Ubereinstimmung mit den gesetzlichen Vorschriften
und den Grundsétzen ordnungsmaRiger Erstellung von Prifungsberichten

(IDW PS 450 n.F.) erstattet.

Der von uns erteilte Bestétigungsvermerk ist in Abschnitt 3 dieses Berichts wieder-
gegeben.
N"ﬁf M\MJ\,‘."‘
s Y
HJJ/G\U\ NT r“‘«i"ie

Frankfurt am Main, den 30. April 2021 ‘x//(‘_\‘ pfVNGs \'\-31
o ? ‘( ] A

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft
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syer zu Schwabedissen
Wirtschaitspriifer Wirtsc ritfer
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13.

reifencom GmbH,
Hanover

Profit and Loss statement
for the perlod from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021

Sales revenue
Other work capitalized

Other operating income
- thereof of exchange rates EUR 169.886
(prior year TEUR 20)

Cost of materials
8)  Costs for raw materials, consumables and supplies and of
purchased merchandise

b} Cost of purchased services

Personnel costs
a) Wages and salaries

b)  sacial security contributions and expenses for pensions
schemes and support
- thereof for pensions: EUR 25.281
(prior year kEUR 24)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Other operating expenses
- thereof of exchange rates EUR 146.405
(prior year kKEUR 155)

Other interest and similar income

Other interest and similar expenses
- thereof from discounting EUR 32.306
(prior year kEUR 46)

Taxes on income and profit
=~ thereof deferred taxes EUR -52.514
(prior year KEUR 129)

Result after taxes

. Other taxes

Annual net profit

31.03.2021 31.03.2020
EUR EUR kEUR kEUR
180.000.966,40 164.657
120.779,77 75
871.112,45 855
-130.319.306,58 -116.111
-628.269,48 -359
-130.947.576,06 -116.470
-17.990.817,47 -17.775
-3.520.898,72 -3.520
-21.511.716,19 -21.295
-2.029.174,47 -1.964
-25.018.657,07 -25.594
156.239,16 26
-170.096,92 -208
-533.323,86 -370
797.563,21 -286
-16.877,46 -19
780.675,75 -306
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reifencom GmbH,
Siidfeldstralle 16, 30453 Hanover

Notes to the annual financial statements for the financial year 2020/2021

General Data

The annual financial statements as of March 31, 2021 of reifencom GmbH, Hanover,
registered with the Hanover Local Court under HRB 217313 (hereinafter referred to as:
reifencom) have been prepared in EUR in accordance with the provisions of §§ 264 et
seq. of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) as amended by the
German Accounting Directive Implementation Act (BIIRUG) and the German Limited
Liability Companies Act (GmbHG).

The Company is a large corporation within the meaning of § 267 paragraph 4 sentence 2
HGB.

The annual financial statement was made on the basis of the legal provisions.
The prior-year figures are given in brackets in KEUR.

Information about the Accounting and Valuation Methods

Fixed Assets

The intangible assets and the property are valued according to their acquisition costs
minus scheduled usage-based amortizations.

Optional capitalization pursuant to §248 (2) HGB was exercised. In this context, advance
payments made on internally generated intangible assets were recognized. Development
costs, in the form of employee hours incurred, were capitalized at the time they were
incurred.
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In the case of fixed assets whose use is limited in time, the acquisition or manufacturing
costs have been reduced by scheduled depreciation.

The following depreciation rates have been applied:

Usage period in  Depreciation rate Depreciation
years in % method
intangible assets 3-5 20-33.33 linear
buildings on third-party property 4-36 4-25 linear
technical facilities and machines 2-15 6.67-50 linear
other facilities, business or company
equipment 1-15 6.67-100 linear

Low-value assets with acquisition/production costs of more than EUR 250.00 and up to
EUR 800.00 acquired in fiscal year 2020/21 are written off in full in the year of acquisition.

The outflow is written off with the residual book value determined at the time of the removal
from the fixed assets.

The financial assets have been considered as acquisition costs minus extraordinary
depreciations at a probably permanent impairment.

For the development of fixed assets of reifencom in the fiscal year 2020/21 reference is
made to page 4 of the Annex.

Current Assets

The valuation of raw, auxiliary and operating materials as well as the finished goods is
made regarding the acquisition costs or the lower fair value. Incidental acquisition costs
and subsequent expenditures are recorded in the valuation. Purchase price reductions
are always written off. Devaluations of inventory risks that are caused by the storage
period and reduced usability are made to an appropriate and sufficient scope.

Claims and other assets are given at their nominal value. Recognizable risks are
considered through individual and general value adjustments.

The cash balance and the cash at banks were balanced at their nominal value.

Deferred taxes are determined for temporary differences between the commercial and tax-
based valuations of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the
Company's combined income tax rate of currently 35.00% (previous year 35.00%). The
combined income tax rate includes corporate income tax, solidarity surcharge and trade
tax.
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Provisions

The valuation of the pension provisions is made according to the actuarial valuation
(Projected-Unit-Credit-procedure). The guideline tables 2018 G by Prof. Dr. Klaus
Heubeck were used as a basis for the calculation. The discounting was generally made at
the average market interest rate of 2.19 % (previous year: 2.60 %) which is the result of a
supposed remaining term of 10 years as of the balance sheet day. The contractual
retirement age of 65 years was set as the assumed pension age. An annual increase of
the current benefits of 1.75 % has been adopted as a pension trend.

The balancing of provisions is made after reasonable commercial judgement at the
amount of the repayment value that is necessary for the coverage of all recognizable risks.

In case of provisions with a remaining term of more than one year, future price and cost
increases are considered and a discounting is made with the average market interest rate
of the past seven years in accordance with the remaining term for the balance sheet date.
For the discounting of the provisions the interest rate is between 0.43% and 1.18% on the
basis of the remaining term.

Liabilities

According to § 253 paragraph 1 HGB liabilities are given at their settlement value.

Profit and Loss Account

The total cost method is applied for the Profit and Loss account according to § 275
paragraph 2 HGB.

Information about Balancing

The development of the fixed assets is presented in the following Assets Analysis.
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Financial Assets

The Company holds the following shares in affiliated companies:

Shareholding  Equity Result of the

quota - fiscal year
% KEUR KEUR
reifencom Tyre (Qingdao) Co. Ltd. 100.0 0 2

Financial assets were valued as acquisition costs. Depreciations to the lower attributable
value are made when the depreciation is permanent.

Claims and other Assets

Accounts receivable trade as well as claims against affiliated companies are due within
one year.

Out of the claims against affiliated companies KEUR 45 (previous year: KEUR 198) are
for accounts receivable trade.

Deferred Taxes

The Company has made use of its option to recognize deferred tax assets.

They are mainly based on different valuations of the pension provision and the goodwill
recognized for tax purposes from an interim valuation in the context of the merger as of
March 31, 2018. The valuation was carried out using a tax rate of 35 %.

Active Difference from Assets Offsetting

The claims from reinsurance policies are shown balanced with the pension provisions as
an active difference from the asset offsetting.
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By using the valuation principles changed by the BilMoG, a settlement value of the pension
provisions amounting to KEUR 1,243 (previous year: KEUR 1,236) arose as of March 31,
2021. This value was calculated with the fair value of the reinsurance policies as of March
31, 2021 amounting to KEUR 1,703 (previous year: KEUR 1,719), and the balance is
shown as an asset difference from the offsetting of assets in the amount of EUR 460
thousand (previous year: EUR 492 thousand) and provisions for pensions and similar
obligations in the amount of EUR 18 thousand (previous year: EUR 9 thousand).

The discount amount of the pension provisions resulting from this amounting to 85 KEUR

is balanced under the position “Other interest and similar expenses” together with the
interest income from the assets amounting to 52 KEUR.

Equity
The share capital amounts to KEUR 750 (previous year 750) and is paid in fully.

The profit brought forward as of March 31, 2021 amounting to KEUR 781 (previous year
annual net loss KEUR -306) shall be forwarded to a new account.

Payout Block

The total amount that is subject to the payout block according to § 268 paragraph 8 HGB
is KEUR 1,871.

In detail the total amount is determined as follows:

KEUR

Recognition of internally generated intangible assets as fixed assets 121
Fair value of t_hg .active difference from the asset offsetting that is higher 534
than the acquisition costs
Difference according to § 253 paragraph 6 sentence 1 HGB
(Interest adjustment effect pension provision) 93
Recognition of deferred taxes 1,123

1,871

According to § 253 paragraph 6 HGB there is a payout block amounting to the difference
between the pension provisions according to the average market interest rate from the
past ten fiscal years and the pension provisions according to the average market interest
rate from the past seven fiscal years.
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Provisions

The other provisions consist of the following individual provisions:

2020/2021 2019/2020

KEUR KEUR

Holiday pay/bonus + time accounts 484 451
Commitments arising from rental contracts 325 229
Premiums/Bonuses 310 131
Employers' Liability Insurance Association 225 225
Guarantees 110 112
Outstanding invoices 99 170
Annual financial statement and audit costs 98 93
Archiving costs 93 93
Customer bonuses 93 0
Compensatory levy 18 19
Others 29 5

1,884 1,528

Liabilities

Liabilities towards credit institutions amounting to KEUR 10.238 (previous year KEUR
13.634) are secured through mortgages as well as maximum absolute guarantees.

Liabilities to banks include KEUR 441 (previous year: KEUR 508) with a remaining term
of more than five years and KEUR 326 (previous year: KEUR 319) with a remaining term
of one to five years.

The liabilities towards affiliated companies include such from supplies and services
amounting to KEUR 7.263 (previous year. KEUR 4.567).



Page 8

IV. Information about the Profit and Loss Account

Operating Income

Sales comprise the following items:

2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR
Tyres 131,978 117,827
Rims 23,783 22,373
Accessories 4,033 4,366
Stir;/rlges, car services, 20207 20,091
180,001 164,657

Categorization by geographically determined markets:

2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR
Germany 162,583 151,454
EU (without Germany) 8,865 6,502
Rest of Europe 8,553 6,701
180.001 164.657

Capitalized own work:
In exercising the capitalization option under §248 (2), development costs for IT systems,
in the form of employee hours, were capitalized as internal activities at the time they were

incurred.

Other operating income

The other operating income includes non-period income amounting to KEUR 99 from
excess payment as well as KEUR 5 from depreciated receivables.

Personnel costs

The costs for the addition to the pension provisions amounting to KEUR 8 (previous year:
gain KEUR 7) are shown under personnel costs.
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Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses mainly comprise rental expenses, costs of goods sold, and e-
marketing. Other operating expenses also include expenses of KEUR 170 relating to other
periods (previous year: KEUR 107).

Interest expenses

The income from the increase in the asset value of the reinsurance policies amounting to
KEUR 562 (previous year. KEUR 49) is reported together with expenses from the
compounding of provisions amounting to KEUR 85 (previous year. KEUR 95) under
interest expense.

Proposal for the appropriation of net income:
The managing directors propose that the profit for the year be carried forward to new
account.

Other information

Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.
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Other Financial Obligations

The other financial obligations amount to KEUR 20,440 (previous year. KEUR 19,720).
They are due in the following years:

Maturity

Total <1year 1-5years >5year

KEUR KEUR KEUR KEUR

Rental contracts 19,217 5,082 11,981 2,154
(in the previous year) 19,756 5,240 12,489 2,027
Leasing contracts 504 253 251 0
(in the previous year) 684 310 374 0
Total 19,720 5,335 12,231 2,154
Total (in the previous year) 20,440 5,550 12,863 2,027

These are obligations from rental contracts for the different branches, the management
and the central warehouse as well as obligations from leasing contracts.

Information about the Employees

The average number of employees is:

Total Previous vear
Employees 502 491
Executive manager 3 3

505 494




Page 11

Information about the Executive Managers
Executive managers are:

- Mr Ralf Strelen, Isernhagen, (Diplom-Merchant FH), Executive Manager (Branch
Sales, B2B, Auditing and Customer Service)

- Mr Michael Hérle, Laatzen, (Diplom-Merchant), Executive Manager (Sales, Ecom,
Logistics, Marketing, and IT)

- Mr Abhishek Bisht, London/ Great Britain
(Global Head - New Markets & Channels of Apollo Tyres UK Pvt Ltd), Executive
Manager (Strategic orientation)

Use is made of the safeguard clause under Section 286 paragraph 4 of the German
Commercial Code (HGB), as the disclosure of the remuneration of the executive bodies
makes it possible to determine the remuneration of individual members of the
management.

Pension obligations for former managing directors amounting to KEUR 1,243 (previous

year. KEUR 1,162) are netted with the accrual claims amounting to KEUR 1,703 and
reported under the asset difference from offsetting assets.

Consolidated Companies

reifencom is a group company of Apollo Tyres Ltd., India, that is also the topmost parent
company and that prepares the financial statement for the largest as well as smallest
consolidated companies. The consolidated financial statement is published on the Internet
site of Apollo Tyres Ltd., India, www.corporate.apollotyres.com under the Investors
section.

Audit Fee

For the financial year 2020/21, the audit fee for financial statement auditing services and
other certification services amounted to KEUR 44 (previous year. KEUR 44). Tax
consulting services or other services were not invoiced.
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Nachtragsbericht

Vorgénge von besonderer Bedeutung nach Ende des Geschéftsjahres zum 31. Marz 2021
sind nicht zu verzeichnen.

Hannover, den 30,#pril 2021

//’“_ 7 9
- //’ £

Geschéftsfﬁhrer\/}@ael Harle Geschéfts‘fuhrer Ralf Strelen
T "‘;U o

A

Geschaftsfiihrer Abhishek Bisht
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reifencom GmbH,
Siidfeldstrasse 16, 30453 Hanover

Management report for the financial year 2020/2021

A. Foundations oft he Company

The object of the company is the trade with and the fitting of tyres, rims and accessories.
With more than 600,000 customers annually and currently 37 branches, reifencom
GmbH (hereafter: reifencom) is active in the area of tyre service. Further, reifencom has
a central warehouse in Hildesheim and provides logistics services.

On the balance sheet day the following branches of reifencom existed:

Aachen
Berlin-Marzahn
Berlin-Spandau
Berlin-Weissensee
Bielefeld

Bonn

Brunswick

Bremen Stuhr
Castrop-Rauxel

Celle

Dortmund

Dresden

Duisburg

Dusseldorf

Essen

Frankfurt a. M.-Bockenheim
Frankfurt a. M.-Fechenheim
Hamburg-Bramfeld
Hamburg-Wandsbek
Hamelin
Hanover-Bornum
Hanover-Vahrenheide
Kassel
Cologne-Hahnwald
Cologne-Ossendorf
Leipzig
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Mainz

Mihlheim
Munich-Aubing
Munich-Milbertshofen
Muinster
Nuremberg-Héfen
Nuremberg-Langwasser
Osnabriick
Paderborn

Verl

Wuppertal

Research and Development Report

reifencom is not active in research and development.

As part of the utilization of the capitalization option pursuant to § 248 (2) of the German
Commercial Code (HGB), development costs for employee hours amounting to EUR 121
thousand were capitalized in the financial year. These were incurred in connection with
the project-specific development of a new IT landscape. Third-party development costs
were also recognized in this context.

. Economic Report

Macroeconomic General Conditions

The year 2020/2021 was consistently marked by the Corona pandemic that emerged in
the spring of 2020, with a historic 12% drop in GDP in the first half of the year.

According to the annual report of the German Council of Economic Experts, GDP is
expected to decline by 5.1% in 2020, well below the prior-year figures. In its economic
forecast for 2021, the Council of Economic Experts expects a recovery with an increase
in German GDP of 3.1%. Overall, government consumption spending in 2020 continued
to rise year-on-year with growth of around 3.4%, while private consumption spending in
Germany declined significantly by -6.45%.

The change in economic conditions caused by the pandemic also contributed to a
negative change in the unemployment rate of 5.9 percent.
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Development of the Industry

The development of the tyre replacement business in Germany as an essential business
market of the reifencom group is mainly influenced by the development of the vehicle
stock. The vehicle stock increased by 1.6 % to a total of 66.9 million vehicles in the
reference period.

In million Passenger cars | Light trucks | Motorcycles Others Total
pieces

2021 48.2 34 4.7 10.6 66.9
2020 47.7 3.3 4.5 10.3 65.8

Source: German Federal Motor Transport Authority (Kraftfahrtbundesamt) (Vehicle stock
as of January 1, 2021)

in the passenger car segment the stock figures increased by 1.1 % to 48.2 million
vehicles. This increase can mainly be traced back to the increase of SUVs and mobile
homes.

Despite the above-mentioned increase in the vehicle population, total sales of
replacement tyres fell by 11% to around 47.4 million tyres in fiscal 2020, according to the
German Tyre Retail and Vulcanization Trade Association (Bundesverband Reifenhandel
und Vulkaniseur-Handwerk, BRY e.V., Bonn).

In reifencom’s main sales segment of passenger car tyres, sales figures fell from 44.8
million to 39.4 million units. The winners in this group were again all-season tyres, with
an increase of 7%. The market share is therefore around 25%.

The market for tyres in the commercial vehicle sector for light trucks was also unable to
escape the negative trend. Sales of light truck tires fell by -8.8% to 3.4 million in 2020
(2020: 3.7 million).

For 2021, BRYV forecasts an overall recovery of 6.4% in the passenger tyre replacement
business.
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3. Business Trend

General Business Development

reifencom's business activities are influenced by seasonal factors in the area of tyre
purchases/changes. Overall, gross profit increased by KEUR 867 to KEUR 49,053.
Gross profit is defined as sales minus cost of materials. Due to lower selling expenses,
EBIT increased by KEUR 1,225 to KEUR 1,469.

Sales development
Sales in the fiscal year 2020/21 were significantly above prior-year level.

Sales comprise the following items:

2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR
Tyres 131,978 117,827
Rims 23,783 22,373
Accessories 4,033 4,366
Services, car services,
others 20,207 20,091
180,001 164,657

Categorization by geographically determined markets:

2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR
Germany 162,583 151,454
EU (without Germany) 8,865 6,502
Rest of Europe 8,553 6,701

180,001 164,657

Procurement

Product availability was limited in individual cases during the fiscal year due to short-
term closures of manufacturing plants as a result of the Corona pandemic. Purchase
prices rose further year-on-year due to the changed product mix in the main segments of
passenger car tyres and rims.
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reifencom GmbH is anxious to, and has been so in the in the previous years as well,
have sufficient goods in the branches and in the central warehouse for the seasons and
to procure goods not in stock just in time, as required.

The greatest part of the tyres that are sold is purchased via the central warehouse in
Hildesheim.

Investments

In reporting year gross investments were made in the ballpark of KEUR 3,456 (previous
year: KEUR 2,951) into the fixed assets (excluding financial assets).

The main part of these investments was made in advance payments for internally
generated intangible assets, software adjustments, and operating and office equipment.

Financing

The equity ratio is 6.3% (previous year: approx. 5.1%). The increase is due in particular
to the net profit for the year.

At the balance sheet date, liabilities to banks amounted to KEUR 10,238 (previous year:
KEUR 13,634), of which KEUR 441 (previous year: KEUR 508) related to longer-term
financing of real estate investments (Hamburg branch).

The Company has committed but not fully utilized credit lines amounting to EUR 14.3
million (previous year: EUR 13.8 million).

Personnel and Social Area
There was an average of 505 people employed (previous year: 494).

Due to the Corona pandemic and the associated impact on the stationary business, the
use of outside labor was kept to a minimum in FY 20/21.

Further we as reifencom GmbH attach much importance to further training and schooling
of the marketing and commercial personnel. Next to schoolings through external
trainers, the company regularly carries out in-house schoolings for the workshop staff to
meet the new technical requirements and to keep the service quality on a high level.
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Profit Situation
2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR

Gross profit 49,053 48,186
Operating expense -47,706 -48,038
Operating result 1,347 148
Financial result -155 -180
Balanced return 122 96
Earnings before

taxes 1,314 64
Taxes . :§3_3 =370
Annual result 781 -306

Gross profit amounted to KEUR 49,053. The increase in gross profit of around 1.8% was
mainly due to the 9.3% increase in sales.

Operating expenses (personnel expenses, depreciation of fixed assets, other operating
expenses less other operating income and other taxes) include in particular personnel
expenses and other operating expenses and decreased in the financial year, in
particular due to a decrease in other operating expenses (EUR -0.6 million). This was
mainly the result of declining marketing expenses.

The outlined business trend leads to an operating result of KEUR 1,347 (previous year:
KEUR 148).

The negative financial result is mainly due to the interest charges on long-term mortgage
loans and the utilization of seasonal credit lines.

Tax expenses of KEUR 533 include tax charges from the current financial year (previous
year: KEUR 370).

Overall, compared with the financial year 2019/20 net income for the year increased by
KEUR 1,087 to KEUR 781.
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The cash flow statement shows the following figures in summarized form:

Cash flow from current business

operations

Cash flow from investment activity
Cash flow from financing activity

Liquid funds at the end of the period

Liabilities to banks due at any time (-)
Net financial funds at the end of the

period

2020/21 2019/20
KEUR KEUR

6,201 -387
-3,147 -2,876
-229 -404
1,223 1,734
-9,469 -12,806
-8,247 -11,072

The increase in cash flow from current business operations is mainly due to the increase
in trade accounts payable and liabilities to affiliated companies.

Cash flow from investing activities was mainly influenced by investments in fixed assets.

The negative cash flow from financing activities includes the interest and repayment
charges on the loans granted.

The Company was able to meet its financial obligations at all times during the fiscal year.

Asset Situation

Long-term assets

Medium- and
short-term assets

Gesamtvermogen

Equity
Long-term loan
capital
Medium- and
short-term loan
capital

Gesamtkapital

31.03.2021 31.03.2020
KEUR % KEUR %
12,430 245 11,323 241
38,326 75.5 35,731 75.9
50,756 100 47,054 100

3,201 63 2,420 541
718 14 709 1.5
46,837 923 43,926 933
50,756 100 47,054 100

Long-term assets mainly consist of property, plant and equipment (KEUR 6,161) and
intangible assets (KEUR 5,364). Changes resulted mainly from the annual depreciation
of fixed assets and additions to fixed assets.
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Further, pension obligations amounting to KEUR 1,243 exist. According to § 246
paragraph 2 HGB, they are represented under long-term assets together with
reinsurance claims (KEUR 1,703).

With regard to medium- and short-term assets, inventories stand out, accounting for
around 58% of total assets. As of March 31, 2021, inventories of tyres and rims were
increased year-on-year for seasonal reasons.

Trade receivables increased compared to the previous year's figures. As of March 31,
2021, these amounted to KEUR 4,040, compared with KEUR 3,160 in the previous year.

In comparison, liquid funds decreased by KEUR 511 to KEUR 1,223. They thus account
for around 2 % of total assets.

Long-term liabilities include a bank loan for the financing of an acquired property.

Equity is reported at around EUR 3.2 million. The equity ratio is 6.4% (previous year:
5.1%). In addition, liabilities to banks amounting to EUR 10.2 million, trade payables
(EUR 26.3 million) and liabilities to affiliated companies (EUR 7.3 million), which are
included in medium and short-term assets, must be taken into account. These increased
by a total of EUR 2.3 million compared to the previous year due to higher inventories.

Financial Performance Indicators

For reifencom, sales represent the most important performance indicator for managing
business activities.

Non-Financial Performance Indicators

The Company has stable business relationships with B2B customers and suppliers. This
is supplemented by business activities with end customers in the stationary trade as well
as e-commerce area.

reifencom GmbH is actively saving resources and reducing emissions in all areas. This
includes among others digitization projects, active energy management at all sites, and
targeted logistics management. There were no changes in the reporting year compared
to the previous year.

The motivation of our employees and their commitment to identifying with reifencom are
the basis for our success. For this purpose, various employee campaigns, competitions
and employee offers took place in the past fiscal year.
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OVERALL STATEMENT

In summary, the management considers the course of the fiscal year to have been
successful, with increased sales revenues and positive earnings. The forecast revenue
for the fiscal year of the reifencom GmbH was around EUR 178 miillion. This was
exceeded in particular by increased B2B and Ecom sales. The Company continues to
face strong competition and price pressure.

By continuing to focus on the sale of high-quality products, the company is seeking to
further improve profitability.

Forecast, Chances and Risk Report

Since the beginning of January 2020, a new type of coronavirus (Covid-19), which
originated in China, has been spreading worldwide. This pandemic, which broke out
before the start of the financial year and will continue beyond the reporting date, is an
event of particular significance in the current financial year. Nevertheless, it did not have
any significant impact on business activities in the past reporting year. A continuing
shutdown of the economy and existing restrictions on exports may have a negative
impact on business activities. The Company has taken this into account accordingly in its
forecast reporting and will take appropriate measures to anticipate the impact on
business activity.
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Forecast Report

The forecast resulting from the economic situation does not only represent the risks but
rather the chances for reifencom GmbH. The strategic orientation of serving the market
via various channels that combine stationary retail with digital media continues to offer
competitive advantages. Various "pure players" who have either focused on the pure
digital sale of tyres and wheels or wholesalers who have focused on volume business in
the B2B area have ceased operations or are in difficult situations. In this context, we are
relying on the continuous expansion of our expert knowledge and services relating to
tyres and wheels, which our customers can access at any time in person, digitally or
over the phone.

For the fiscal year 2021/22, we are assuming rising purchase prices and also rising
sales revenues.

We continue to look ahead optimistically. The company's processes were put to the test
and we expect efficiency improvements and cost reductions in the future as a result of
the merger carried out on March 31, 2018.

We are monitoring the changes in connection with the Corona pandemic on a daily basis
and aligning our actions to protect our employees and customers accordingly. In
addition, we are also drawing consequences in our cost structure accordingly. We plan
to increase sales by more than 10% in the fiscal year 2021/22.

However, the past has shown that a forecast is very difficult and associated with major
uncertainty due to weather-dependency, especially in the winter tyre business, and the
unclear economic development.
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Chances and Risk Report

Corona Pandemic

The contact and exit bans imposed in Germany in connection with the Corona pandemic
are having a particular impact on our store business. This could result in a decline in
sales if the contact blocks are maintained or tightened further. In response to this, the e-
commerce area is being focused more closely.

On the other hand, we offer our customers the opportunity to carry out all necessary
steps for tyre procurement online in advance and to offer the further necessary service
on-site through coordinated processes. This omnichannel approach helps us to respond
to changes in a targeted manner and offers our customers a wide range of options in
terms of ordering, payment and delivery.

Consumer Climate

Following the decline in domestic consumer spending in Germany of -6.8% in 2020, the
Council of Economic Experts forecasts an increase of 3.4% for 2021.

As reifencom GmbH is also dependent on consumer climate, consumer reticence can
also be a risk for our sales development.

On the other hand, any reluctance to buy is expected to increase demand for alternative
choices of low to high-priced goods and services. As a full-range and omnichannel
provider, reifencom GmbH is well positioned here.

In the past reifencom GmbH has countered declines in sales due to changes in
consumer behaviour or again falling selling prices with branch openings and the
acceleration of the internet business.

With the central warehouse, the company improves the stock situation in the branches
and the Ecom shops so that almost a 100%-availability of the goods required from the
customer is guaranteed. That way a possibly expected buying restraint of the consumers
should be compensated.

Further new customers can also be gained through the growing trade on the Internet.
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Price Development for Raw Materials

Changes in the raw material prices affect the finished product prices with a deceleration
of approximately 6 months. Next to metal, important raw materials for the tyre production
are also oil-based raw materials and natural rubber. Due to the increase in raw material
prices and freight rates in 2020, purchase prices are expected to rise in 2021/22. In
addition, demand for larger tyres will tend to increase.

To be able to react to price changes of the tyre manufacturers, we observe the price
development and align our purchasing policy accordingly.

Procurement of Goods

The central warehouse in Hildesheim contributes to curbing the risk of a strong seasonal
dependency of the branch and the storage of imported goods. This way the seasonal
customer needs can be met without increasing the inventories in the reifencom GmbH
branches significantly. At the same time the purchasing volume makes it possible to use
greater market power towards suppliers as well as the tyre industry.

The good availability of goods compared to the competitors improves the trade margin of
reifencom GmbH for scarce products on the market. Should prices decrease during the
year, this is at the expense of the margin and should be rated as a risk. Reifencom
GmbH minimizes the risk through a mixture of stock goods on the one hand and goods
that are procured order-related on the other hand.

reifencom GmbH operates independently from the manufacturer and has a broad brand
portfolio. In case of a failure of one of the manufacturers, we can procure the goods from
a different supplier.

Seasonal Fluctuations

reifencom GmbH operates a business that is the strongly dependent on the season so
that especially the 3rd quarter is strongly weather-dependent. Despite the continuing
increase in demand for all-season tyres, consumer behaviour patterns remain
unchanged during the "October to Easter" period.
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Replacement Tyre Business

Currently the average mileage of a passenger car in Germany is about 14,000 km per
year. The tyres have an expected durability of about 60,000 km. Corresponding to that,
the replacement cycle is about 4-5 years. As a reaction to the increase of the fuel prices
on the one hand and the uncertainty of the economic situation on the other hand
(environmental regulations, diesel issue, etc.), drivers will continue to limit their driving.
Due to the mileage that has decreased yearly for all passenger cars (2006 it was 16,200
km per year), the replacement cycle for new tyres should continue to increase.

Due to the ongoing great importance of the car in Germany as well as a high need for
security by the consumer, a complete rejection of new tyre purchase cannot be
expected. Central purchasing from suppliers is likely to be in the best possible position
for this, given their price structure.

The average age of the passenger car has increased from 6.8 years in 1995 to 9.3
years. It can be expected that the average age will continue to increase. This should
also have a positive effect on the sales development of reifencom, as this also increases
the demand for tyres.

Price Development of Trade Items

Due to the predatory competition within the tyre sector it remains to be seen in how far
higher prices can be enforced towards the private end consumer on the market. On the
one hand higher prices may decrease the propensity to consume more but on the other
hand lower margins have a negative effect on the trade margin. Reifencom GmbH
continues to keep the overall offer of goods in mind during the purchase and reacts to
this with risk considerations in the warehousing and pricing policy.

Increasing consolidation in the European tyre market should lead to a more stable
pricing policy among suppliers in the medium term. At present, however, a general
oversupply of tyres and new entries into the market are providing a counterbalance,
which tends to lead to the familiar price fluctuations.

Payment Defaults

Since the majority of our customers are private customers, payment is made in cash. For
customers who have payment deadlines, we regularly check the amount of credit. In
order to keep the risk as low as possible, we cooperate with specialized companies in
the area of risk assessment and collection.
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Competition

Reifencom GmbH is a very specialized supplier on a polypoly market with relatively low
barriers to entry.

Further there is an increased market transparency due to the internet. Reifencom GmbH
rises to this challenge. We can clearly influence the market with the web presence
www.reifen.com.

Value Chain

Reifencom GmbH concentrates on the trade with an on-site service. Customers can
purchase goods here and also let them mount upon request.

We have largely automated business processes due to a software structure that fits the
business.

Customer Satisfaction

reifencom GmbH has a high number of customers. This is a valuable asset. Satisfied
customers like to come back again and recommend the company to third parties. High
customer dissatisfaction can lead to a decline in sales and the loss of market shares
fast. Reifencom GmbH has introduced revision processes to ensure equally high quality
in the branches. Due to regular schoolings of commercial and industrial employees and
due to the monitoring of customer orders we want to keep our high service level and
continue to expand it.

Risk Thinking

Risk potentials can be recognized in good time through the integrated and well-
developed merchandise management system and management system. Therefore we
are able to take immediate countermeasures in case of identified risks. These
implemented systems have stood the test and are continuously enlarged and further
developed.



Seite 15

Derzeit sind keine Einzelrisiken bekannt, die den Bestand der reifencom GmbH gefahr-
den. Auch die Summe mdglicher und bekannter Risiken stellt keine Gefahr fiir den Fort-
bestand des Unternehmens dar. Wesentliche Anderungen an den Chancen bzw. Risiken
wurden im Vergleich zum Varjahr nicht gesehen.

Hannover, den 30. April 2021

reifencom GmbH, Hanrover
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Geschéafisfiihrer Ralf Strelen

Geschaftsfliihrer Abhishek Bisht
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the reifencom GmbH, Hanover,

Audit Opinions

We have audited the annual financial statements of reifencom GmbH, Hanover, which comprise the
balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, and the statement of profit and loss for the financial year from
April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021, and notes to the financial statements, including the presentation of
the recognition and measurement policies. In addition, we have audited the management of reifencom
GmbH, Hanover, for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021. In accordance with the
German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of the statement on corporate govern-
ance pursuant to section 289f paragraph 4 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code]
(disclosures on the quota for women on executive boards).

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

e the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the require-
ments of German commercial law applicable to business corporations and give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2021 and of its finan-
cial performance for the financial year from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 in compliance with Ger-
man Legally Required Accounting Principles, and

¢ the accompanying management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company’s
position. In all material respects, this management report is consistent with the annual financial
statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities
and risks of future development. Our audit opinion on the management report does not cover the
content of the statement on corporate governance referred to above.

Pursuant to section 322 paragraph 3 sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any
reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements and of the manage-
ment report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the management report in accord-
ance with section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Finan-
cial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute of Public Auditors in
Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in
the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the Manage-
ment Report” section of our auditor's report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with
the requirements of German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German
professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evi-
dence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the
annual financial statements and on the management report.
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Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board for the Annual
Financial Statements and the Management Report

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements that
comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial law applicable to busi-
ness corporations and that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, lia-
bilities, financial position and financial performance of the Company in compliance with German Le-
gally Required Accounting Principles. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such in-
ternal control as they, in accordance with German Legally Required Accounting Principles, have deter-
mined necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting
based on the going concern basis of accounting, provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict
therewith.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the management report
that as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company’s position and is, in all material respects,
consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appro-
priately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors
are responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary
to enable the preparation of a management report that is in accordance with the applicable German
legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the
management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the annual financial statements and of the management report.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements and of the
Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the manage-
ment report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Company’s position and, in all material re-
spects, is consistent with the annual financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit,
complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of
future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our audit opinions on the an-
nual financial statements and on the management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with section 317 HGB and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for
Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer (IDW) will aiways detect a
material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, in-
dividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements and this management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements and of the
management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-
sentations, or the override of internal controls.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual financial statements
and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the management report in or-
der to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of these systems of the Company.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reason-
ableness of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of ac-
counting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the annual financial statements and in the management
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, fu-
ture events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to be able to continue as a going con-
cern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Company in compliance with German
Legally Required Accounting Principles.

Evaluate the consistency of the management report with the annual financial statements, its con-
formity with German law, and the view of the Company'’s position it provides.

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular,
the significant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective infor-
mation, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions.
We do not express a separate audit opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions
used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from
the prospective information.
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Wir erdrtern mit den fir die Uberwachung Verantwortlichen unter anderem den geplanten Umfang und
die Zeitplanung der Priifung sowie bedeutsame Priifungsfeststellungen, einschlieBlich etwaiger Méan-
gel im internen Kontrollsystem, die wir wahrend unserer Priifung feststellen.

Frankfurt am Main, den 30. April 2021

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

*
c,“//——=-_ K
WIRTSCHAFTS- |
PROFUNGS-
GESELLSCHAFT

obert Binder
Wirtschaftspriifer
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Allgemeine Auftragsbedingungen

fiir

Wirtschaftspriifer und Wirtschaftsprifungsgeselischaften
vom 1. Januar 2017

1. Geltungsbereich

(1) Die Auftragsbedingungen gelten fir Vertrage zwischen Wirtschaftsprifern
oder Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaften (im Nachstehenden zusammenfas-
send ,Wirtschaftsprifer' genannt) und ihren Auftraggebern iiber Priifungen,
Steuerberatung, Beratungen in wirtschaftlichen Angelegenheiten und sonsti-
ge Auftrdge, soweit nicht etwas anderes ausdriicklich schriftlich vereinbart
oder gesetzlich zwingend vorgeschrieben ist.

(2) Dritte kénnen nur dann Anspriiche aus dem Vertrag zwischen Wirt-
schaftsprifer und Auftraggeber herleiten, wenn dies ausdriicklich vereinbart
ist oder sich aus zwingenden gesetzlichen Regelungen ergibt. Im Hinblick auf
solche Anspriiche gelten diese Auftragsbedingungen auch diesen Dritten
gegenliber.

2. Umfang und Ausfiibrung des Auflrags

(1) Gegenstand des Auftrags ist die vereinbarte Leistung, nicht ein bestimm-
ter wirtschaftlicher Erfolg. Der Auftrag wird nach den Grundsétzen ordnungs-
méRiger Berufsausiibung ausgefithrt. Der Wirtschaftsprifer ilbernimmt im
Zusammenhang mit seinen Leistungen keine Aufgaben der Geschaftsfiih-
rung. Der Wirtschaftsprisfer ist fiir die Nutzung eder Umsetzung der Ergebnis-
se seiner Leistungen nicht verantwortlich. Der Wirtschaftspriifer ist berechtigt,
sich zur Durchfilhrung des Auftrags sachversténdiger Personen zu bedienen.

(2) Die Beriicksichtigung auslandischen Rechts bedarf ~ aufier bei betriebs-
wirtschaftlichen Priifungen — der ausdriicklichen schriftlichen Vereinbarung,

(3) Andert sich die Sach- oder Rechtslage nach Abgabe der abschliefienden
beruflichen Aufierung, so ist der Wirtschaftspriifer nicht verpflichtet, den
Auftraggeber auf Anderungen oder sich daraus ergebende Folgerungen
hinzuweisen.

3. Mitwirkungspflichten des Auftraggebers

(1) Der Auftraggeber hat dafiir zu sorgen, dass dem Wirtschaftsprifer alle fir
die Ausfithrung des Auftrags notwendigen Unterlagen und weiteren Informa-
tionen rechtzeitig (ibermittelt werden und ihm von allen Vorgéngen und
Umsténden Kenntnis gegeben wird, die fiir die Ausfilhrung des Auftrags von
Bedeutung sein kénnen. Dies gilt auch fir die Untedagen und weiteren
Informationen, Vorgénge und Umsténde, die erst wahrend der Tétigkeit des
Wirtschaftspriifers bekannt werden. Der Auftraggeber wird dem Wirtschafts-
prifer geeignete Auskunftspersonen benennen.

(2) Auf Verlangen des Wirtschaftsprifers hat der Auftraggeber die Vollstin-
digkeit der vorgelegten Unterlagen und der weiteren Informationen sowie der
gegebenen Auskiinfte und Erkldrungen in einer vom Wirtschaftspriifer formu-
lierten schriftlichen Erklérung zu bestétigen.

4. Sicherung der Unabhingigkeit

(1) Der Auftraggeber hat alles zu unterdassen, was die Unabhéngigkeit der
Mitarbeiter des Wirtschaftspriifers gefahrdet. Dies gilt fiir die Dauer des
Auftragsverhéltnisses insbesondere fiir Angebote auf Anstellung oder Uber-
nahme von Organfunktionen und fiir Angebote, Auftrige auf eigene Rech-
nung zu Ubernehmen.

(2) Solite die Durchfiihrung des Auftrags die Unabhangigkeit des Wirtschafts-
prifers, die der mit ihm verbundenen Unternehmen, seiner Netzwerkunter-
nehmen oder solcher mit ihm assoziierten Unternehmen, auf die die Unab-
héngigkeitsvorschriften in gleicher Weise Anwendung finden wie auf den
Wirtschaftsprifer, in anderen Auftragsverhéltnissen beeintréchtigen, ist der
Wirtschaftspriifer zur auBerordentlichen Kiindigung des Auftrags berechtigt.

5. Berichterstattung und miindliche Auskiinfte

Soweit der Wirtschaftspriifer Ergebnisse im Rahmen der Bearbeitung des
Auftrags schriflich darzustellen hat, ist alleine diese schriftliche Darstellung
mafgebend. Entwirfe schriflicher Darstellungen sind unverbindlich. Sofern
nicht anders vereinbart, sind miindliche Erklarungen und Auskiinfte des
Wirtschaftspriifers nur dann verbindlich, wenn sie schriftlich bestétigt werden.
Erkidrungen und Auskiinfte des Wirtschaftspriifers auBerhalb des erteilten
Auftrags sind stets unverbindlich.

Warth & Klein Grant Thornlon AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

6. Weitergabe einer beruflichen Auferung des Wirschaftspriifers

(1) Die Weitergabe beruflicher Auflerungen des Wirtschaftspriifers (Arbeits-

ergebnisse oder Ausziige von Arbeitsergebnissen — sei es im Entwurf oder in
der Endfassung) oder die Information tiber das Tatigwerden des Wirtschafis-

priifers fir den Auftraggeber an einen Dritten bedarf der schriftlichen Zustim-

mung des Wirtschaftspriifers, es sei denn, der Auftraggeber ist zur Weiter-
gabe oder Information aufgrund eines Gesetzes oder einer behdrdlichen

Anordnung verpflichtet,

(2) Die Verwendung beruflicher Auerungen des Wirtschaftspriifers und die

Information iiber das Tatigwerden des Wirtschaftsprifers fir den Auftragge-
ber zu Werbezwacken durch den Auftraggeber sind unzuldssig,

7. Mangelbeseitigung

(1) Bei etwaigen Mangeln hat der Auftraggeber Anspruch auf Nacherfillung

durch den Wirtschaftspriifer. Nur bei Fehlschlagen, Unterlassen bzw. unbe-
rechtigter Verweigerung, Unzumutbarkeit oder Unmdéglichkeit der Nacherfiil-

lung kann er die Vergiitung mindern oder vom Vertrag zuriicktreten; ist der

Auftrag nicht von einem Verbraucher ereilt worden, so kann der Auftraggeber
wegen eines Mangels nur dann vom Vertrag zuriicktreten, wenn die erbrach-

te Leistung wegen Fehlschlagens, Unterdassung, Unzumutbarkeit oder

Unmadglichkeit der Nacherfilllung fir ihn ohne Interesse ist. Soweit dariiber
hinaus Schadensersatzanspriiche bestehen, gilt Nr. 9.

{2) Der Anspruch auf Beseitigung von Mangeln muss vom Auftraggeber
unverziiglich in Textform geltend gemacht werden. Anspriiche nach Abs. 1,
die nicht auf einer vorsatzlichen Handlung beruhen, verjéhren nach Ablauf
eines Jahres ab dem gesetzlichen Verjéhrungsbeginn,

{3) Offenbare Unrichtigkeiten, wie z.B. Schreibfehler, Rechenfehler und
formelle Mingel, die in einer beruflichen AuRerung (Bericht, Gutachten und
dgl.) des Wirtschaftspriifers enthalten sind, kénnen jederzeit vom Wirt-
schaftspriifer auch Dritten gegeniiber berichtigt werden. Unrichtigkeiten, die
geeignet sind, in der beruflichen Auferung des Wirtschaftspriifers enthaltene
Ergebnisse infrage zu stellen, berechtigen diesen, die AuRerung auch Dritten
gegeniber zuriickzunehmen. In den vorgenannten Féllen ist der Auftragge-

ber vom Wirtschaftsprifer tunlichst vorher zu héren.

8. Schweigepflicht gegenliber Dritten, Datenschutz

(1) Der Wirtschaftspriifer ist nach Magabe der Gesetze (§ 322 Abs. 1 HGB,
§ 43 WPO, § 203 StGB) verpflichtet, Uiber Tatsachen und Umsténde, die ihm

bei seiner Berufstétigkeit anvertraut oder bekannt werden, Stillschweigen zu
bewahren, es sei denn, dass der Auftraggeber ihn von dieser Schweigepflicht
entbindet,

(2) Der Wirtschaftsprifer wird bei der Verarbeitung von personenbezogenen
Daten die nationalen und europarechtlichen Regelungen zum Datenschutz
beachten.

9. Haftung

(1) Fur gesetzlich vorgeschriebene Leistungen des Wirtschaftspriifers, insbe-
sondere Prilfungen, gelten die jeweils anzuwendenden gesatzlichen Haf-
tungsbeschrankungen, insbesondere die Haftungsbeschrénkung des § 323
Abs. 2 HGB.

(2) Sofern weder eine gesetzliche Haftungsbeschrénkung Anwendung findet
noch eine einzelvertragliche Haftungsbeschriinkung besteht, ist die Haftung
des Wirtschaftspriifers flir Schadensersatzanspriiche jeder Art, mit Ausnah-
me von Schdden aus der Verletzung von Leben, Kérper und Gesundheit,
sowie von Schéden, die eine Ersatzpflicht des Herstellers nach § 1
ProdHaftG begriinden, bei einem fahrl4ssig verursachten einzelnen Scha-
densfall gemanR § 54a Abs. 1 Nr. 2 WPO auf 4 Mio. € beschrankt.

(3) Einreden und Einwendungen aus dem Vertragsverhéltnis mit dem Auf-
traggeber stehen dem Wirtschaftspriifer auch gegeniiber Dritten zu.

(4) Leiten mehrere Anspruchsteller aus dem mit dem Wirtschaftspriifer
bestehenden Vertragsverhéltnis Anspriiche aus einer fahriéssigen Pflichtver-
letzung des Wirtschaftsprifers her, qilt der in Abs, 2 genannte Héchstbetrag
flr die betreffenden Anspriiche aller Anspruchsteller insgesamt.

50261
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(6) Ein einzelner Schadensfall im Sinne von Abs. 2 ist auch bezuiglich eines
aus mehreren Pflichtverletzungen stammenden einheitlichen Schadens
gegeben. Der einzelne Schadensfall umfasst sémtliche Folgen einer Pflicht-
verletzung ohne Riicksicht darauf, ob Schéaden in einem oder in mehreren
aufeinanderfolgenden Jahren entstanden sind. Dabei gilt mehrfaches auf
gleicher oder gleichartiger Fehlerquelle beruhendes Tun oder Unterlassen als
einheitliche Pflichtverletzung, wenn die betreffenden Angelegenheiten mitei-
nander in rechtlichem oder wirtschaftlichem Zusammenhang stehen. In
diesem Fall kann der Wirtschaftspriifer nur bis zur Héhe von 5 Mio. € in
Anspruch genommen werden. Die Begrenzung auf das Fiinffache der Min-
destversicherungssumme gilt nicht bei gesetzlich vorgeschriebenen Pflicht-
prifungen.

(6) Ein Schadensersatzanspruch edischt, wenn nicht innerhalb von sechs
Monaten nach der schriftlichen Ablehnung der Ersatzleistung Klage erhoben
wird und der Auftraggeber auf diese Folge hingewiesen wurde. Dies gilt nicht
fir Schadensersatzanspriiche, die auf vorséatzliches Verhalten zuriickzufiih-
ren sind, sowie bei einer schuldhaften Verletzung von Leben, Kérper ader
Gesundheit sowie bei Schéden, die eine Ersatzpflicht des Herstellers nach §
1 ProdHaftG begriinden. Das Recht, die Einrede der Verjahrung geltend zu
machen, bleibt unberithrt.

10. Ergdnzende Bestimmungen fiir Priifungsauftrige

(1) Andert der Auftraggeber nachtréglich den durch den Wirtschaftspriifer
gepriiften und mit einem Bestétigungsvermerk versehenen Abschluss oder
Lagebericht, darf er diesen Bestétigungsvermerk nicht weiterverwenden.

Hat der Wirtschaftspriifer einen Bestétigungsvermerk nicht erteilt, so ist ein
Hinweis auf die durch den Wirtschaftspriifer durchgefiihrte Prifung im Lage-
bericht oder an anderer firr die Offentlichkeit bestimmter Stelle nur mit schrift-
licher Einwilligung des Wirtschaftspriifers und mit dem von ihm genehmigten
Wortlaut zulédssig.

(2) Widerruft der Wirtschaftspriifer den Bestatigungsvermerk, so darf der
Bestétigungsvermerk nicht weiterverwendet werden. Hat der Auftraggeber
den Bestétigungsvermerk bereits verwendet, so hat er auf Verlangen des
Wirtschaftspriifers den Widerruf bekanntzugeben.

(3) Der Auftraggeber hat Anspruch auf fiinf Berichtsausfertigungen. Weitere
Ausfertigungen werden besonders in Rechnung gestellt.

11. Ergénzende Bestimmungen fiir Hilfeleistung in Steuersachen

(1) Der Wirtschaftspriifer ist berechtigt, sowohl bei der Beratung in steuerti-
chen Einzelfragen als auch im Falle der Dauerberatung die vom Auftraggeber
genannten Tatsachen, insbesondere Zahlenangaben, als richtig und vollstéan-
dig zugrunde zu legen; dies gilt auch fir Buchfihrungsauftrdge. Er hat jedoch
den Auftraggeber auf von ihm festgestelite Unrichtigkeiten hinzuweisen.

(2) Der Steuerberatungsauftrag umfasst nicht die zur Wahrung von Fristen
erforderlichen Handlungen, es sei denn, dass der Wirtschaftspriifer hierzu
ausdriicklich den Auftrag (ibernommen hat. In diesem Fall hat der Auftragge-
ber dem Wirtschaftspriifer alle filr die Wahrung von Fristen wesentlichen
Unterlagen, insbesondere Steuerbescheide, so rechtzeitig vorzulegen, dass
dem Wirtschaftspriifer eine angemessene Bearbeitungszeit zur Verfiigung
steht.

(3) Mangels einer anderweitigen schriftlichen Vereinbarung umfasst die
laufende Steuerberatung folgende, in die Vertragsdauer fallenden Tatigkei-
ten:

a) Ausarbeitung der Jahressteuererkldrungen fiir die Einkommensteuer,
Kdrperschaftsteuer und Gewerbesteuer sowie der Vermégensteuererkla-
rungen, und zwar auf Grund der vom Auftraggeber vorzulegenden Jahres-
abschlusse und sonstiger fiir die Besteuerung erforderlicher Aufstellungen
und Nachweise

b) Nachpriifung von Steuerbescheiden zu den unter a) genannten Steuern

¢) Verhandlungen mit den Finanzbehérden im Zusammenhang mit den
unter a) und b) genannten Erklédrungen und Bescheiden

d) Mitwirkung bei Betriebsprifungen und Auswertung der Ergebnisse von
Betriebspriifungen hinsichtlich der unter a) genannten Steuern

e) Mitwirkung in Einspruchs- und Beschwerdeverfahren hinsichtlich der
unter a) genannten Steuern,

Der Wirtschaftspriifer beriicksichtigt bei den vorgenannten Aufgaben die
wesentliche verdffentlichte Rechtsprechung und Verwaltungsauffassung.

(4) Erhélt der Wirtschaftsprifer fur die laufende Steuerberatung ein Pau-
schalhonorar, so sind mangels anderweitiger schriftlicher Vereinbarungen die
unter Abs. 3 Buchst. d) und e) genannten Tétigkeiten gesondert zu honorie-
ren.

(5) Sofern der Wirtschaftspriifer auch Steuerberater ist und die Steuerbera-
tervergitungsverordnung fiir die Bemessung der Vergiitung anzuwenden ist,
kann eine héhere oder niedrigere als die gesetzliche Vergiitung in Textform
vereinbart werden.

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

(6) Die Bearbeitung besonderer Einzelfragen der Einkommensteuer, Korper-
schaftsteuer, Gewerbesteuer, Einheitsbewertung und Vermdgensteuer sowie
aller Fragen der Umsatzsteuer, Lohnsteuer, sonstigen Steuern und Abgaben
erfolgt auf Grund eines besonderen Auftrags. Dies gilt auch fiir

a) die Bearbeitung einmalig anfallender Steuerangelegenheiten, z.B. auf
dem Gebiet der Erbschaftsteuer, Kapitalverkehrsteuer, Grunderwerbsteuer,

b) die Mitwirkung und Vertretung in VVerfahren vor den Gerichten der Fi-
nanz- und der Verwaltungsgerichtsharkeit sowie in Steuerstrafsachen,

¢} die beratende und gutachtliche Tatigkeit im Zusammenhang mit Um-
wandlungen, Kapitalerhéhung und -herabsetzung, Sanierung, Eintritt und
Ausscheiden eines Gesellschafters, BetriebsverduBerung, Liquidation und
dergleichen und

d) die Unterstiitzung bei der Erfillung von Anzeige- und Dokumentations-
pflichten.

(7) Soweit auch die Ausarbeitung der Umsatzsteuerjahreserklarung als
zusétzliche Tatigkeit ibernommen wird, gehért dazu nicht die Uberpriifung
etwaiger besonderer buchmaniger Voraussetzungen sowie die Frage, ob alle
in Betracht kommenden umsatzsteuerrechtlichen Vergiinstigungen wahrge-
nommen worden sind. Eine Gewébhr fir die vollstdndige Erfassung der Unter-
lagen zur Geltendmachung des Vorsteuerabzugs wird nicht iibernommen.

12. Elektronische Kommunikation

Die Kommunikation zwischen dem Wirtschaftspriifer und dem Auftraggeber
kann auch per E-Mail erfolgen. Soweit der Auftraggeber eine Kommunikation
per E-Mail nicht wiinscht oder besondere Sicherheitsanforderungen stellt, wie
etwa die Verschlisselung von E-Mails, wird der Auftraggeber den Wirt-
schaftsprifer entsprechend in Textform informieren.

13. Vergiitung

(1) Der Wirtschaftspriifer hat neben seiner Gebiihren- ader Honorarforderung
Anspruch auf Erstattung seiner Auslagen; die Umsatzsteuer wird zusétzlich
berechnet. Er kann angemessene Vorschiisse auf Vergiitung und Auslagen-
ersatz verlangen und die Auslieferung seiner Leistung von der vollen Befrie-
digung seiner Anspriiche abhangig machen. Mehrere Auftraggeber haften als
Gesamtschuldner.

(2) Ist der Auftraggeber kein Verbraucher, so ist eine Aufrechnung gegen
Forderungen des Wirtschaftspriifers auf Verglitung und Auslagenersatz nur
mit unbestrittenen oder rechtskraftig festgesteliten Forderungen zulissig.

14, Streitschlichtungen

Der Wirtschaftspriifer ist nicht bereit, an Streitbeilegungsverfahren vor einer
Verbraucherschlichtungsstelle im Sinne des § 2 des Verbraucherstreitbeile-
gungsgesetzes teilzunehmen.

15. Anzuwendendes Recht

Fur den Auftrag, seine Durchfithrung und die sich hieraus ergebenden An-
spriiche gilt nur deutsches Recht.
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[Translator's notes are in square brackets]

General Engagement Terms

for

Wirtschaftspriifer and Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaften
[German Public Auditors and Public Audit Firms]
as of January 1, 2017

1. Scope of application

(1) These engagement terms apply to contracts between German Public
Auditors  (Wirtschaftspriifer) or Germman Public Audit Firms
(Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaften) — hereinafter collectively referred to as
"German Public Auditors” — and their engaging parties for assurance
services, tax advisory services, advice on business matters and other
engagements except as otherwise agreed in wriling or prescribed by a
mandatory rule.

(2) Third parties may derive claims from contracts between German Public
Auditors and engaging parties only when this is expressly agreed or results
from mandatory rules prescribed by law. In relation to such claims, these
engagement terms also apply to these third parties.

2, Scope and execulion of the engagement

(1) Object of the engagement is the agreed service — not a particular
economic result. The engagement will be performed in accordance with the
German Principles of Proper Professional Conduct (Grundsétze ord-
nungsméfiger Berufsaustibung). The German Public Auditor does not
assume any management functions in connection with his services. The
German Public Auditor is not responsible for the use or implementation of
the results of his services. The German Public Auditor is entitled to make
use of competent persons to conduct the engagement.

(2) Except for assurance engagements (betriebswirtschafiliche Priifungen),
the consideration of foreign law requires an express written agreement.

(3) If circumstances or the legal situation change subsequent to the release
of the final professional statement, the German Public Auditor is not obli-
gated to refer the engaging party to changes or any consequences result-
ing therefrom.

3. The obligations of the engaging party to cooperate

(1) The engaging party shall ensure that all documents and further infor-
mation necessary for the performance of the engagement are provided to
the German Public Auditor on a timely basis, and that he is informed of all
events and circumstances that may be of significance to the performance
of the engagement. This also applies to those documents and further
information, events and circumstances that first become known during the
German Public Auditors work. The engaging party will also designate
suitable persons to provide information.

(2) Upon the request of the Gemman Public Auditor, the engaging party
shall confirm the completeness of the documents and further information
provided as well as the explanations and statements, in a written statement
drafted by the German Public Auditor.

4. Ensuring independence

(1) The engaging party shall refrain from anything that endangers the
independence of the German Public Auditor’s staff. This applies throughout
the term of the engagement, and in particular to offers of employment or to
assume an executive or non-executive role, and to offers to accept en-
gagements on their own behalf.

(2) Were the performance of the engagement to impair the independence
of the German Public Auditor, of related firs, firms within his network, or
such firms associated with him, to which the independence requirements
apply in the same way as to the German Public Auditor in other engage-
ment relationships, the German Public Auditor Is entitled to terminate the
engagement for good cause.

5. Reporling and oral information

To the extent that the German Public Auditor is required to present results
in writing as part of the work in executing the engagement, only that written
work is authoritative. Drafts are non-binding. Except as otherwise agreed,
oral statements and explanations by the German Public Auditor are binding
anly when they are confirmed in writing. Statements and information of the
German Public Auditor outside of the engagement are always non-binding.
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6. Distribution of a German Public Auditor‘s professional statement

(1) The distribution to a third party of professlonal statements of the Ger-
man Public Auditor (results of work or extracts of the results of work wheth-
er in draft or in a final version) or information about the German Public
Auditor acting for the engaging party requires the German Public Auditor's
written consent, unless the engaging party is obligated to distribute or
inform due to law or a regulatory requirement.

(2) The use by the engaging party for promotional purposes of the German
Public Auditor's professional statements and of information about the
German Public Auditor acting for the engaging party is prohibited.

7. Deficiency rectification

(1) In case there are any deficiencies, the engaging party is entitled to
specific subsequent performance by the German Public Auditor. The
engaging party may reduce the fees or cancel the contract for failure of
such subsequent performance, for subsequent non-performance or unjusti-
fied refusal to perform subsequently, or for unconscionability or impossibil-
ity of subsequent performance. If the engagement was not commissioned
by a consumer, the engaging party may only cancel the contract due to a
deficiency if the service rendered is not relevant to him due to failure of
subsequent performance, to subsequent non-performance, to unconscion-
ability or impossibility of subsequent performance. No. 9 applies to the
extent that further claims for damages exist.

(2) The engaging party must assert a claim for the rectification of deficien-
cies in writing (Textform) [Translators Note: The German term “Textform”
means in written form, but without requiring a signature] without delay.
Claims pursuant to paragraph 1 not arising from an intentional act expire
after one year subsequent to the commencement of the time limit under the
statute of limitations.

(3) Apparent deficiencles, such as clerical errors, arithmetical errors and
deficiencies associated with technicalities contained in a German Public
Auditor's professional statement (long-form reports, expert opinions etc.)
may be corrected — also versus third parties — by the German Public
Auditor at any time. Misstatements which may call into question the results
contained in a German Public Auditor's professional statement entitle the
German Public Auditor to withdraw such statement — also versus third
parties. [n such cases the German Public Auditor should first hear the
engaging party, if practicable.

8. Confidentiality towards third pariies, and data protection

(1) Pursuant to the law (§ [Article] 323 Abs 1 [paragraph 1] HGB [German
Commercial Code: Handelsgesetzbuch], § 43 WPO [German Law regulat-
ing the Profession of Wirtschaftspriifer: Wirtschaftspriiferordnung), § 203
StGB [German Criminal Code: Strafgesetzbuch]) the German Public
Auditor is obligated to maintain confidentiality regarding facts and circum-
stances confided to him or of which he becomes aware in the course of his
professional work, unless the engaging party releases him from this confi-
dentiality obligation.

(2) When processing personal data, the German Public Auditor will observe
national and European legal provisions on data protection.

9. Liability

(1) For legally required services by German Public Auditors, in particular
audits, the respective legal limitations of liability, in particular the limitation
of liability pursuant to § 323 Abs. 2 HGB, apply.

(2) Insofar neither a statutory limitation of liability is applicable, nor an
individual contractual limitation of liability exists, the liability of the German
Public Auditor for claims for damages of any other kind, except for dam-
ages resulting from injury to life, body or health as well as for damages that
constitute a duty of replacement by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG
[German Product Liability Act: Produkthaftungsgesetz], for an individual
case of damages caused by negligence is limited to € 4 million pursuant to
§ 54 a Abs. 1 Nr. 2 WPO.

(3) The German Public Auditor is entitled to invoke demurs and defenses
based on the contractual relationship with the engaging party also towards
third parties.
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(4) When multiple claimants assert a claim for damages arising from an
existing contractual relationship with the German Public Auditor due to the
German Public Auditor's negligent breach of duty, the maximum amount
stipulated in paragraph 2 applies to the respective claims of all claimants
collectively.

(5) An individual case of damages within the meaning of paragraph 2 also
exists in relation to a uniform damage arising from a number of breaches of
duty. The individual case of damages encompasses all consequences from
a breach of duty regardless of whether the damages occurred in one year
orin a number of successive years, In this case, multiple acts or amissions
based on the same source of error or on a source of error of an equivalent
nature are deemed to be a single breach of duty if the matters in question
are legally or economically connected to one another. In this event the
claim against the German Public Auditor is limited to € 5 million. The
limitation to the fivefold of the minimum amount insured does not apply to
compulsory audits required by law.

(6) A claim for damages expires if a suit is not filed within six months
subsequent to the written refusal of acceptance of the indemnity and the
engaging party has been informed of this consequence. This does not
apply to claims for damages resulting from scienter, a culpable injury to life,
body or health as well as for damages that constitute a liability for replace-
ment by a producer pursuant to § 1 ProdHaftG. The right to invoke a plea
of the statule of limitations remains unaffected.

10. Supplementary provisions for audit engagements

(1) If the engaging party subsequently amends the financial statements or
management report audited by a German Public Auditor and accompanied
by an auditor’s report, he may no longer use this auditor's report.

If the German Public Auditor has not issued an auditor's report, a reference
to the audit conducted by the German Public Auditor in the management
report or any other public reference is permitted only with the German
Public Auditor's written consent and with a wording authorized by him.

(2) If the German Public Auditor revokes the auditor's report, it may no
longer be used. If the engaging party has already made use of the auditor's
report, then upon the request of the German Public Auditor he must give
notification of the revocation.

(3) The engaging party has a right to five official copies of the report.
Additional official copies will be charged separately.

11. Supplementary provisions for assistance in tax matters

(1) When advising on an individual tax issue as well as when providing
ongaing tax advice, the German Public Auditor is entitled to use as a
correct and complete basis the facts provided by the engaging party —
especially numerical disclosures; this also applies to bookkeeping en-
gagements. Nevertheless, he is obligated to indicate to the engaging party
any errors he has identified.

(2) The tax advisory engagement does not encompass procedures required
to observe deadlines, unless the German Public Auditor has explicitly
accepted a corresponding engagement. In this case the engaging party
must provide the German Public Auditor with all documents required to
observe deadlines — in particular tax assessments — on such a timely basis
that the German Public Auditor has an appropriate lead time.

(3) Except as agreed otherwise in writing, ongoing tax advice encompasses
the following work during the contract period:

a) preparation of annual tax returns for income tax, corporate tax and
business tax, as well as wealth tax returns, namely on the basis of the
annual financial statements, and on other schedules and evidence
documents required for the taxation, to be provided by the engaging

party

b) examination of tax assessments in relation to the taxes referred to in

(a)

¢) negotiations with tax authorities in connection with the returns and
assessments mentioned in (a) and (b)

d) support in tax audits and evaluation of the results of tax audits with
respect to the taxes referred to in (a)

e) participation in petition or protest and appeal procedures with respect
to the taxes mentioned in (a).

In the aforementioned tasks the German Public Auditor takes into account
material published legal decisions and administrative interpretations.

(4) If the German Public auditor receives a fixed fee for ongoing tax advice,
the work mentioned under paragraph 3 (d) and (e) is to be remunerated
separately, except as agreed otherwise in writing.

(8) Insofar the German Public Auditor is also a German Tax Advisor and
the German Tax Advice Remuneration Regulation (Steuerberatungsvergii-
tungsverordnung) Is to be applied to calculate the remuneration, a greater
or lesser remuneration than the legal defaull remuneration can be agreed
in writing (Textform).
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(6) Work relating to special individual issues for income tax, corporate tax,
business tax, valuation assessments for property units, wealth tax, as well
as all issues in relatlon to sales tax, payroll tax, other taxes and dues
requires a separate engagement. This also applies to:

a) work on non-recurring tax matters, e.g. in the field of estate tax, capital
transactions tax, and real estate sales tax;

b) support and representation in proceedings before tax and administra-
tive courts and in criminal tax matters;

¢) advisory work and work related to expert opinions in connection with
changes in legal form and other re-organizations, capital increases
and reductions, insoivency related business reorganizations, admis-
sion and retirement of owners, sale of a business, liquidations and the
like, and

d) support in complying with disclosure and documentation obligations.

(7) To the extent that the preparation of the annual sales tax return is
undertaken as additional work, this includes neither the review of any
special accounting prerequisites nor the issue as to whether all potential
sales tax allowances have been identified. No guarantee is given for the
complete compilation of documents to claim the input tax credit.

12. Electronic communication

Communication between the German Public Auditor and the engaging
party may be via e-mail. In the event that the engaging party does not wish
to communicate via e-mail or sets special security requirements, such as
the encryption of e-mails, the engaging party will inform the German Public
Auditor in writing (Textform) accordingly.

13. Remuneration

(1) In addition to his claims for fees, the German Public Auditor is entitied to
claim reimbursement of his expenses; sales tax will be billed additionally.
He may claim appropriate advances on remuneration and reimbursement
of expenses and may make the delivery of his services dependent upon the
complete satisfaction of his claims. Multiple engaging parties are jointly and
severally liable.

(2) If the engaging party is not a consumer, then a set-off against the
German Public Auditor's claims for remuneration and reimbursement of
expenses is admissible only for undisputed claims or claims determined to
be legally binding.

14. Dispute Settlement

The German Public Auditor is not prepared to participate in dispute settle-
ment procedures before a consumer arbitration board (Verbraucherschlich-
fungsstelle) within the meaning of § 2 of the German Act on Consumer
Dispute Settliements (Verbraucherstreitbeilegungsgesetz).

15. Applicable law

The contract, the performance of the services and all claims resulting
therefrom are exclusively govermed by German law.



